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Federal court rules ASCS Handbooks are 
not binding on farmers 
In a March 17, 1993 decision of the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia, 
Jones u. Espy (Civil No. 90-2831-LFOl, the court ruled, in a landmark decision, that 
USDA cannot deny fanners subsidy payments based solely on ASCS Handbook 
violations.ASCS Handbooks, which supplement federal statutes and regulations, are 
distributed to all ASCS county and state officers but not to farmers. 

The Handbook provision at issue in the Jones case prohibi ted loans between persons 
ifthe grantor ofthe loan had a direct or indirectinterestin the fann or crop. ASCS cited 
the Handbook provision as its authority for denying plaintiffs their payments. 

Plaintiffs were eighteen partners in a farming operation in Kern County, Califor
nia. In March, 1988, they submitted an operating plan that accurately described the 
capital contributions ofthe partners. In addition, the partnership needed a $100,000 
loan, which one of the partners agreed to loan the partnership. This loan was 
discussed with two county committee personnel, including the County Executive 
Director, and they both agreed the loan would be valid if evidenced by a note bearing 
market interest rate. However, the full county committee was not advised of the loan, 
and it was not disclosed on the operating plan. 

The county committee approved the operating plan and approved plaintiffs as 
eighteen persons; plaintiffs went forward with the $100,000 loan from one of the 
partners, and farmed. 

A year-end review (January, 1989) of plaintiffs found problems with plaintiffs' 
operation resulting in the county committee reversing itself, finding plaintiffs to be 
one person. Plaintiffs appealed to the county and state committees but were denied 
at both levels. 

Plaintiffs appealed to the Deputy Administrator, State and County Operations 
[DASCOI. who had a hearing un the issue in September, 1989 and in June, 1990, 
denied the appeal, citing three reasons: (1) like the county committee, the Deputy 
Administrator concluded that the Partnership had been undercapitalized, violating 
the thirty percent "capitalization" provisions of the Handbook; (2) the $100,000 loan 
from Mr. Jones violated the financing requirements of 7 C.F.R. section 795.7 and the 
agency Handbook; and(3) DASCO affirmed that the contributions of the two partnp.rs, 
Walter and Brett Tank, who contributed partor all in-kind managerial assistance and 
equipment, were not commensurate with their share of the Partnership proceeds. 
When presenting their defense of the appeal, defendants relied only on the latter two 
of these grounds - that the Jones Loan violated the regulatory "financing" require
ments and that the Tank brothers failed to contribute commensurate shares. 
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Partial summary judgment granted 
in challenge to termination of 
cooperative membership 
In a lengthy opinion, a federal district court has granted partial summary judgment 
in favor of a marketing cooperative, its wholly owned subsidiary. and certain of its 
employees in an action brought by former members of the cooperative who contend 
that their membership in the cooperative was unlawfully tenninated. Ripplemeyer u. 
National Grope CaoperatiueAss'n, Inc., No. CIV. 92-5034,1992 WL 359780(W.D. Ark. 
Dec. 3, 1992). The action arises out of the 1978 decision of the National Grape 
Cooperative Association (National), a New York agricultural marketing cooperative 
that wholly owns Welch Foods, Inc., to close a finished goods production facility in 
Springdale, Arkansas. Until it was closed, the facility processed grapes grown by 
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ASCS HANDBOOKS/cONTINUED FROM PAGE I 

Plaintiffs argued that (I) the county 
committee's original determination find
ing them to be eighteen persons was final 
and unreviewable; (2) the "financing" rules 
violate the Admimstrative ProceduresAct 
(APA) rulemaking requirements; (3) the 
agency's ruling was arbitrary and capri
cious, in violation of the APA; and (4) 
plaintiffs were entitled to equitable es
toppel. 

JudgeOberdorfer,in a thorough review 
of the fOUT arguments raised by plaintiffs, 
found: 

(1) The county committee's detennina
tion was not final and was reviewable at 
year end; 

(2) On the issue of the partners' contri
butions (of part or all in-kind managerial 
assistance and equipment), because the 
defendants did not make a specific find
ing that the partners did not make the 
requisite contributions in money, man
agement, or equipment as noted in the 
plan, there was no factual basis to reverse 
the county committee's original detenni
nation; 

(3)On the issueofthe loan, the loan was 

consistent with the regulations regarding 
capital contributions; the sole issue was 
that ofcompliance with the agency'sHand
book requirements. The Handbook stated 
that the grantor and recipient offinanc
ing shall be considered a single person 
where the grantor has a direct or indirect 
interest in the farm or crop; however, 
plaintiffs argued the Handbook provision 
was an unenforceable agency rule pro
mulgated without notice and comment as 
required by the APA. Defendants coun
tered that the Handbook provision was 
merely an interpretive rule and therefore 
not subject to rulemaking requirements. 
If the provision was invoked toreduce the 
subsidies, then it was a rule because it 
was determinative of issues or rights ad
dressed, Thus, it could not be I'enforced 
against plaintiffs without first being sub
ject to notice and comment." 

Accordingly, plaintiffs were granted 

summary judgment. [The fourth issue. 
estoppel, was not reached by the court.] In 
summary, for the first time, a federal 
court has rejected USDA/ASCS's use ofa 
Handbook provision/rule to prevent a 
farmer from receiving or retaining a sub
sidy or deficiency payment. 

Jones v. Espy is an important prece
dent, some would say long overdue, that 
will force ASCS to more timely update its 
regulations rather than rely on its Hand
book, which will, in the long run, better 
educate fanners and give them an oppor
tunity to be infonned of and comment 
upon changesin the law as the law devel
ops. 

-Alexander J. Pires, Jr .• 
Conlon. Frantz, Phelan. Knapp & 

Pires, Washington. DC 

---------_. 

Horse soring case 

The Fourth Circui t Court of Appeals re disqualification from showing.Id. at *1-2. 
cently interpreted the Horse Protection On appeal, Mr. Elliott alleged that "en
Act, affirming the decision of the Judicial tering" asused in the Act constituted only 
Officer in Elliott v. Administrator. Ani registration for a show and the payment 
mal and Plant Health Inspection Service, of the fee. The court rejected this argu
USDA, No. 92-1662,1993 WL 89684 (4th mentandstated that the plain meaningof 
Cir., Mar. 30, 1993). At issue in Elliott I'entering" a horsein a show encompassed 

VOL. 10. NO, 7. WHOLE NO. 116 Apr. 1993 was the appeal of violations of the Act all the requirements for entrance - in

AAL.4. Editor.... ... Linda Gnm McCormick 
195 DollY'l"ood Dr .• TOMy. AL 35773 

based on findings that three horses en
tered in horse shows were I'sore." Elliott 

cluding inspection and the time neces
sary to complete it. Id. at *4. Moreover, 

based his appeal on three arguments: 1) the court noted that even if the Act's 
Contributing Editors: Chri atopher R. Ke-Uey, Arenl, Fox, 
Kintner, Plotlun & Kahn. Waahing~on. D.C: SU88n that the Secretary erred in interpreting language on this issue was not clear, 
Schneider, Aren~, Fox, Kintnu. Plotkin & Kahn, the Act; 2) that the Act was unconstitu USDA's interpretation would be sup
Walhington. DC; Alexander J, Pires. Jr., Con10ng. 
FrWltl. PheIWl. Knapp & Piru. WalhinglDn. DC; Chu~k 

CuIYer•UniveJllity ofAtlr.an.Nlil. FayeUeville .AR; Iinda 

tionally vague; and 3) that the Secretary 
improperly relied upon an evidentiary 

ported as reasonable and consistent with 
Congressional intent. 

Grim McCormick. Toney. A.L presumption. Mr. Elliott next argued that the Act 
The Act prohibits "entering for the pur was vague in defining the prohibited con

Fot AAL\ m..mberahip inCormlllion.cQn\.llcl William poses of showing ... any horse which is duct and in failing to set standards for 
P, &bione.Offio;e ofth" EXKutiv. Dir...:tQr. RnbertA. 
LeOar LawCento!r. Univ.nrityofArkan....... Fayelleville, sore... ." Elliott, 1993 WL 89684 at *2 (cit examination and diagnoses. Elliott al
AR 72701. ing 15 U.S.C. section 1824(2X(B)). "In leged that this vagueness rendered the 
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general terms, a horse is sore when it has 
received deliberate treatment that causes 

Act unconstitutional. The court rejected 
these arguments, finding that the prohib

office: Maynard Printing. Inc.• 219 New York Aw., Dea 
Moi""'.,IAM313.All righllltl'lW>rved. Firslc1a&ll poal.a.lfI" 
paid lit Du Moinell. IA 50313. 

the horse to experience discomfort in its 
forelimbs when it walks." Id. at *6. Soring 

ited conduct was clearly stated and that 
the testimony of the veterinarians was 

is generally associated with Tennessee properly treated as expert evidence. 
ThiB publieation ia deBigned to prQvide accurale and 

authoril.a.t.ive inrorma~ion in regard to Lhe BubJect maller Walking Horses (Walkers) as trainers Mr. Elliott also challenged the ALI find
covered. [t ia Bold with the undentanding thal the have been known to sore the horses' fore ing that the horses were sore. He argued 
pubURhe r ia not engaged in rendering!ega1.lIccoun ling, 
or olher prQfeaBional &erviee. Iflegul advice Qf other 
expert aasi5l.a.nce ill required. the lIerviceB ofBcompewnt 

limbsin order to simulate the qui ck, high step 
of a properly trained Walker. Id. at n. 3. 

that the ALI had impermissibly relied on 
the statutory presumption that if a horse 

profellJiQnaJ ahould be !IOught. On three separate occasions, Mr. Elliott is "abnonnally sensitive/' it is deemed to 
ViewR expre.6l.'d herein are thQBl;! of the individual paid a show entrance fee and later pre be "sore." He argued that the phrase "ab

author. and Bhould not be inl.erpreled aa alawment. of sented the horse for inspection, where nonnally sensitive" was so vague that the 
policy by the Ameriean Agricuhural Law ABBociation. upon the inspecting veterinarian found presumption was unwarranted. The court 

Lellerland edilQrial contribut.ion.are welcoml! and the horse to be sore. The Administrator of declined to rule on the validity of the 
Bhould be direcled to Linda Gnm McCormick, Editor. 
195 Dollywood Dr.• Toney, AL 35773. the Animal and Plant Health Inspection presumption, as it held that sufficient 

Service (APHIS) filed a complaint against additional evidence that the horses were 
CopyughL 1993 by Ameriean Agricultural Law 

A..o~iation. \'Ilo part of IhiB newaleHer may be 
reproducedor lranllmilled inany form or by any meanR, 

Mr. Elliott. A hearing was held before an 
administrative lawjudge(ALJ), who found 

sore was presented. 
The court upheld the fine of$2,000 per 

ehctronic or mechanical. induding photocopying. that the horses were sore, but found that violation and Mr. Elliott's disqualifica·
recording. or by any information alorage or retr:ieval 
ByBhm. without perm inion in writing rnm the the Act did not cover the time period after tion for five years per violation, running 
publilher. "entering" but before showing. APHIS consecutively. 

appealed to the Judicial Officer, who re - Susan Schneider, Arent, Fox, 
versed and imposed fines and a period of Washington, DC 
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Grape coopiContinued from page 1 
National's members in northwest Arkan
sas and southern Missouri. 

According to National, the facility was 
closed because it was under-utilized as a 
result of a decline in grape production in 
the region. The plaintiffs, former mem
bers of the cooperative, allege that Na
tional misrepresented thereasons for clos
ing the facility and breached certain un
derstandings relating to the closing, 

In their federal court action, plaintiffs 
asserted a host ofclaims, including breach 
offiduciary duty, breach of contract, mis· 
representation and/or constructive fraud, 
breach of duty to deal fairly and in good 
faith, the tort of outrage, negligence, and 
violations of the Securities and Exchange 
Act, the Agricultural Fair Practices Act, 
and the Sherman Antitrust Act. Defen
dants moved for summary judgment on 
all of the claims and prevailed on all 
except for the claims alleging breach of 
fiduciary duty, negligence, and violation 
of the Securities and Exchange and Agri
cultural Fair Practices Acts. 

The plaintiffs alleged that the defen
dants breached their fiduciary duty to 
them by acting beyond their authority, 
unlawfully, and in bad faith_ They pre
mised the dutyon New York's cooperative 
corporations statute and their long-stand
ing relationship ¥lith National. Applying 
New York law, the district court denled 
the defendants' motion for summaryjudg
ment on the breach offiduciarydutyclaim 
on the grounds that whether the duty was 
appropriately discharged was a question 
of fact. Id., at *6. Because the plaintiffs 
apparently treated the breach of fidu
ciary duty claim and the negligence claim 
as one cause of action, the court treated 
the two claims as one in denying sum
mary judgment-1d., at *11. 

The plaintiffs' breach of contract claim 
alleged that the membership and market· 
ing agreement between the plaintiffs and 
National authorizeda member's termina
tion only when the member violates arule 
or policy of the cooperative or ceases to 
meet the qualifications for membership. 
The court held, however, that the agree
ment fully authorized the termination in 
the manner undertaken by National. Id .• 
at *7-8. For the same reasons, the court 
granted summary judgment In favor of 
National on the plaintiffs' claim that Na
tional breached its duty to deal fairly and 
in good faith_Id., at *10-11. The court also 
granted summary judgment in the defen
dants' favor on the misrepresentation, 
constructive fraud, and outrage claims, 
reasoning that the plaintiffs had failed to 
show ¥lith the requisite particularity un
der Arkansas law a basis for the claims. 
Id., at *9-11. 

As for the alleged statutory violations, 
the courtdecHned tofind that the market
ing agreements between the plaintiffs and 
National were themselves investment 
contracts for purposes of section 10(b) of 
the Securities and Exchange Act. The 
court, however, declined to grant the de
fendants' motion for summary judgment 
on the plaintiffs' claim that the Securities 
and Exchange Act was violated because, 
not¥lithstanding the failure of the plain
tiffs to allege any misrepresentation or 
omlssions regarding the allocation cer
tificates, capital equity credits, or notes 
encompassed in the compensation plan 
contemplated by the marketing agree
ments, the effect of that compensation 
plan had not been addressed in the defen
dants' brief. d_, at *13-14_ 

The court also declined to grant the 

defendants summary judgment on plain
tiffs' claim that the Agricultural Fair Prac
tices Act had been violated through vari
ous allegedactsofintimidatlon. The court 
held that "[tlhe plaintiffs' allegation, if 
believed by the trier offact, could support 
a finding that, even if National properly 
terminated memberships...• National en
gaged in coercive and/or intimidating ac
tions to force the plaintiffs to breach, 
cancel or other¥lise terminate their mar
keting agreements ¥lith National." Id., at 
*15_ 

Finally, the court refused to exempt the 
activities of National and Welch Foods, 
Inc. from Shennan Antitrust Act liability 
under the Capper-Volstead exemption on 
the grounds that Welch Foods was not a 
farmer. Id .• at *16-17. The court, how
ever, granted the defendants' motion for 
summary judgment on the plaintiffs' 
claims that National and Welch Foods, 
Inc. conspired to fix prices in violation of 
section 1 of the Sherman Antitrust Act 
because, as parent and wholly owned sub
sidiary, respectively, the two could not be 
guilty of a conspiracy as a matter of law. 
Id., at *18-19. The court also found that 
the plaintiffs had failed to substantiate 
their additional claims of unlawful con
spiracy, including a conspiracy allegedly 
involving a third party. Id., at *20-21. 
Summary judgment in the defendants' 
favor was also granted on the plaintiffs' 
claims that defendants violated the pro
hibitions against monopolization found 
in section 2 of the Sherman AntitrustAct. 
d., at *21-23. 

- Christopher R. Kelley, Of Counsel, 
Arent Fox Kintr~er Plotkin & Kahn, 

Washington, DC 

CONFERENCE CALENDAR 

Annual APA National Conference
 
"Agenda for America's Communities"
 
May 1-5, 1993, Chicago, IL
 
Topics include: protecting fannland in
 
northeastern Illinois; small towns and
 
rural planning.
 
Sponsored by APA.
 
For more inform ation, eall (312) 955-9100_
 

Water Organizations in a Changing
 
West: Fourteenth Annual Summer
 
Program
 
June 14-16, 1993, University of Colorado,
 
Boulder, CO
 
Topics include: providing for fisheries,
 
recreation, and other instream benefits;
 
new legislative approaches.
 
Sponsored by Natural Resources Law
 
Center.
 
For more information, call (303)492-1288.
 

Drake University'sAgriculturalLaw 
Summer Institute 
June 14-17, Business plannlng for farm 

Federal Register in brief
 
The following is a selection of matters 
that were published in the Federal Regis
ter during the month of March, 1993. 

1. CCC; Export programs; emerging 
democraci es faci Ii ti es gu arantees; in terim 
rule with request for comments, due 6/11 
93. 58 Fed. Reg_ 11786; Correction 58 
Fed. Reg. 15901. 

operations; June 21-24, The law offarmer 
cooperatives; June 28-July 1, Migrant and 
seasonal farm worker law; July 5-8, Wa
ter law and agriculture; July 12-15, Legal 
issues in industrialization of agriculture: 
contract production, biotechnology, intel
lectual property rights, and land tenure; 
July 19-22, Comparative agricultural law: 
a civil law perspective. 
Sponsored by the Agricultural Law Cen
ter, The Law School, Drake University. 
For more infonnation, call 1-515-271
2947. 

2. Farm Credit Administration; Em
ployee responsibilities and conduct; effec
tive date 3/3/93; 58 Fed. Reg_ 12333. 

3. FmHA; Revisions to the Insured and 
Guaranteed Soil and Water Loan instruc
tions and related instructions to imple
ment the requirements of section 1802 of 
the Food, Agriculture, Conservation, and 
Trade Act of 1990; final rule; effective 
date 3/19/93. 58 Fed. Reg. 15071. 

4. FmHA; State Director exception for 
an extension of the 60-day deadline for 
requesting borrowers loan servicing. S8 
Fed. Reg. 1.5417_ 

- Linda Grim McCormick, Toney, AL 
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Lobbying Congress
 
By Chuck Culver 

"Contrary to tradition, against the 
public morale, and hostile to good 
government, the lobby has reached 
sucha position ofpower that it threat· 
ens government itself - its size, its 
power, its capacity for evil; its greed, 
trickery, deception and fraud con· 
demn it to the death it deserves." 

Bill Clinton in the 1992 Presidential cam
paign?No, how about Senator Hugo Black 
on Taelioin 1935. These are pDwerlul words 
directed against a constitutionally pro
tected exercise, especially when spoken 
by a future Justice of the U.S. Supreme 
Court. Yet, itis an expression ofcontempt 
that is as current as today and as old as 
President Andrew Jackson's struggle with 
the National Bank lobby. 

Of COUTse~ there is a flip side to the 
issue. W.M. Kiplinger in his 1942 book, 
Washington Is Like That, wrote "you your
self are doubtless a member of a lobby 
group and are represented in Washi ngton 
by a lobbyist, or two, or three. If you are 
not, then it shows you are nota very active 
citizen." Involvement of groups and indi
viduals in the process of government is a 
cornerstone of our democracy. The abso
lute refusal by King George III to hear 
grievances from the American colonists 
led to the adoption of the First Amend
ment protection of the right of petition. 
The modern right of petition to influence 
government action, coupled with the right 
of free speech, has evolved into the right 
to lobby by propaganda and indirect pres
sure as well as by personal contact. 

Most people, when lobbying is men
tioned, envision late night private meet
ings, hand shakes with money, or influ
ence peddling on unsavory issues des
tined to be buried deep in the bowels of 
esoteric legislation. Few see lobbying in 
its broadest context - citizen involve
ment including the sharing of informa
tion and the opening of additional levels 
ofcommunication between legislator and 
constituent. Yet, in this very context, all 
of us may have "'lobbied" at some time or 
another. The question becomes, whatlevel 
of lobbying is regulated lobbying? 

Therefore, this Update piece is for indi
viduals wishing to lobby Congress and 
perhaps those who are already doing so 
but may not realize there are laws gov-

Chuck Culver is Director of Development 
for the Division ofAgriculture, University 
ofArkansas System 

erning their activities. This piece does not 
cover campaign finance regulations or 
lobbying for foreign governments. Also, 
those wishing to influence action by the 
Executive branch will be subject to other 
regulations not covered here. 

What are the relevant statutes or 
House and Senate rules that cover 
lobbying activities? 

Since the 1920's, Congress, through the 
early pioneering efforts of Senator Thad 
Caraway of Arkansas, has attempted to 
protect itself, or perhaps insulate itself, 
from outside influence. In 1946 it suc
ceeded in passi ng the Federal Regulation 
of Lobbying Act, 2 U.S.C. sections 261
270 [the FRLA]. The Act, which is more a 
disclosure than a regulating law, is still 
the controlhng legislation. Congress also 
passed the Foreign Agents Registration 
Act, 22 U.S.C. section 611 et seq., which 
provides for registration with the Attor
ney General of lobbyists working on be
half of foreign governments. Laws re
strietingthe use offederal funds in lobby
ing Congress can be found at 18 U.S.C. 
section 1913, and in the newly adopted 
"Byrd Amendment," 31 U.S.C. § 1352. In 
1989, Congress passed the Ethics Reform 
Act (as amended in 1991), which changed 
rules regarding honoraria, travel, gifts, 
meals, lodging, and post employment lob
byingfor Members and staff. Finally, those 
represen ting charitabl einstitu tions whi ch 
are exempt from taxation as 501(c)(3) 
corporations have lobbying restrictions 
codified at 26 U.S.C. section 50l(h). 

VVhat is lobbying? 
Congress defines lobbying in the FRLA 

as the act of attempting to influence the 
passage or defe.at of legislation, either 
directly or indirectly. Under 26 U.S.C. 
section 50l(hj, Congress defines lobbying 
as "carrying on propaganda, or otherwise 
attempting, to influence legislation ...." 

Who are lobbyists and who must 
register? 

As defined by FRLA, a lobbyist is any 
person "who by himself, or through any 
agent or employee or other persons in any 
manner whatsoever, directly orindirectly, 
solicits, collects, or recei ves money or any 
other thing ofvalue to be used principally 
to aid, or the principal purpose of which 
person is to aid, in the accomplishment" of 
the passage or defeat oflegislation either 
i ndireetly or i ndireetly. As one can readily 
see, lobbying is defined very broadly, but 
to be a lobbyist covered by the Act, one 

mustcolleet, solicit orreceive funds/thi ngs 
of value with the intent to use these to 
help influence the passage or defeat of 
legislation. Thosefalling under these pro
visions, and who do not fall under a spe
cific statutory exception or an exception 
established by the Supreme Court, as 
listed below, must register as lobbyists. 

This provision is honored more in the 
breach than compliance. It is ironic to 
note that the 6,000 currently registered 
federal lobbyists in the U.S. account for 
only one-third of those listedin the lobby
ingreference manual, Washington Repre
sentatives. The Government Accounting 
Office (GAO) estimates that there are 
four times as m any paid lobbyists as there 
are registered lobbyists. 

What is required under 
registration? 

Those reb:r1stering under the FRLA must 
file in writing and under oath with the 
Secretary of the Senate and the Clerk of 
the House. The form shall include the 
lobbyist's name, business address, name 
and address of employer, duration of em
ployment, amount of compensation, and 
amounts paid for specific expenses. 

Besides registering, there is a report
ing requirement. Additi onal quarterly fil· 
ings shall be made detailing: (1) all mon
ies received and expended, to whom paid, 
and for what purpose; (2) articles that 
have been published seeking to influence 
passage or defeat of legislation; and (3) 
what legislation one was attempting to 
affect. All such filings are open to the 
public. 

What are the exceptions? 
The FRLA establishes three statutory 

exemptions to the registration require
ment: 0) those merely appearing to tes
tify before a Congressional committee; (2) 
public officials acting in their official ca
pacity; and (3) owners, publishers, and 
emp1oye.rs of newspapers and periodicals 
carrying out normal business. No amend
ment, it should be noted, has been made 
for radio and television. 

In United States v. Harriss, 347 U.S. 
612 (1954), the Supreme Court limited 
the scope of the FRLA to cover only direct 
lobbying of Members, and not staff. The 
Court tightened the Act by excludinginci
dental influence and indirect lobbying 
from coverage. Therefore, the two-part 
reb:r1stration test pstablished in the FRLA 
has been supplemented by the court to 
include a requirement ofdirect communi
cations with a Member. 
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In Bradley v. Saxbe, 388 F. Supp. 53 
(1974), the D.C. District Court held that 
the tenn "organizations" under the "per
son" definition in the FRLA was meant to 
apply to business, philanthropic, and pro
fessional organizations, and not to orga
nizations of public officials and their 
agents. The Court held further that agents 
of public officials whose lobbying activi
ties were financed from public (non-fed
erat) sources, and who lobbied solely on 
behalf of public officials for governmental 
purposes were exempt from registering 
under the FRLA. 

What are the penalties for failing to 
register? 

Any person violating either the regis
tration or reporting requirements under 
the FRLA is guilty, upon conviction, of a 
misdemeanor with possible penalties ofa 
fine not to exceed $5,000.00 and impris
onment not to exceed twelve months, or 
both. A second conviction will result in 
felony penalties of up to $10,000 in fines 
and up to five years imprisonment, or 
both. Any person convicted under the Act 
,hall be barred for three years from lobby· 
.ng Congress or appearing before any 

-- Congressional committee. Noone hasbeen 
convicted under this statute since the 
1950's. 

Are these restrictions an 
infringement on the rights of 
speech and petition?

• Perhaps, but they are not impennis
sible infringement. The intent behind the 
FLRA was that disclosure would elimi· 

. nate the seamier aspects of lobbying by 
warning an unwary Congress and alert· 
ing an ever vigilant public. As early as 
1853, the Supreme Court, in Marshall v. 
Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, 57 U.S. 
314, stated that a non-disclosed contin
gency contract for lobbying was unen
forceable as a matter of public policy. The 
Court recognized that all persons who 
maybe affected by the acts ofa legislature 
had a right to "urge claims and argu
ments, either in person or by counsel 
professing to act for them," but ruled 
against the enforceability of the lobbying 
contract in this case because it had not 
been disclosed to those being lobbied. The 
Court held further that "Iegislatorsshould 
act with a single eye to the true interest of 
the whole people, and courts ofjusbee can 
~ve no countenance to the use of means 

~	 which may subject them to be misled by 
the pertinacious importunity and indi
rect influences of interested and unscru

pulous agents or solicitors." 
The Supreme Court, in the case of 

United States v. Harriss, denied claims 
that the FRLA was unconstitutionally 
vague or a violation of First Amendment 
guaranteed freedoms to speak, publish, 
and petition the government. While limit
iag the scope of the FRLA, the Court 
found that the disclosure requirements 
were minimal and were within the Con
gressional right of "self protection." The 
Court refused to rule on whether the 
three-year disbarment from lobbying pen
alty was a constitutional violation of the 
rights of speech and to petition. 

Can lobbyists be paid with federal 
funds? 

No. Long-standing federal laws and 
regulations have barred federal employ
ees from using federal funds to lobby 
Congress (18 U.S.C. § 1913). Under the 
recently adopted "Byrd Amendment," 31 
U.S.C. § 1352, recipients offederalloans, 
cooperative agreements, and grants, as 
well as those hired to secure such awards, 
must certify to the agency in question 
that no federal funds were used to influ
ence a federal agency, Member of Con
gress, or committee or personal staffer in 
the makingofthe grant, cooperative agree
ment, or loan. Also, the use ofnon-federal 
lobbying funds to secure such loan, coop
erative agreement, or grant must be dis
closed at time of submission (Standard 
Form LLL). Disclosure must be made by 
all subcontractors and subgrantees as 
well. Those lobbyists securing grants and 
cooperative agreements not exceeding 
$100,000, or loans not exceedi ng $150,000, 
are exempt. The penalty for failing to 
certify is a civil fine of not less than 
$10,000.00 nor more than $100,000. 

In-house lobbyists (those employed at 
least 130 working days within one year) 
are probably exempt from the disclosure 
requirement since the law is targeted to 
those who hire outside lobbyists, but all 
recipients must certify that no federal 
funds were utilized in lobbying. Those 
who have been successful atsecuringwhat 
is commonly called Congressional "pork" 
(and Executive "pork" as well) must be 
cognizant that they are not "home free"by 
simply registering and reporting under 
FRLA; they must comply with the Byrd 
Amendment certification process also. 

Are there additional restrictions on 
the Members? 

There are restrictions on both Mem
bers and stafT. The restrictions come in 

the fonn of ethical rules while serving or 
working in Congress and post-employ
ment rules upon retirement. Lobbyists 
must familiarize themselves with the ethi
cal rules that members and staff are 
obliged to follow so as to avoid embarrass· 
ment or worse. 

As part of the Ethics Reform Act of 
1989, 2 U.S.C. § 31·2, new ethics rules 
governing gifts, travel, meals, and lodg· 
i ng were adopted. No Member or em
ployee of Congress may accept gifts from 
a single source, except from relatives, 
that exceed in the aggregate $250 in any 
calendar year. However, single gifts of 
$100 or less need not be aggregated to
wards the $250 limit. Gifts of meals and 
beverages are exempt from the gift rule if 
consumed on the spot and not coupled 
with a gift of overnight lodging. 

Necessary expenses (reasonable ex
penses for food, lodging, and travel) may 
still be provided to Members and staffers 
who are "substantially participating" in 
an event, fact-finding tour, or other func
tion related to their official duties. These 
expenses are exempt from the gifts rule 
and are limited to a duration offour con
secutive days for domestic travel for House 
Members and employees and three con
secutive days (seventy-two hours) of do
mestic travel for Senators and Senate 
employees. Both the House and Senate 
limit the paying of expenses on interna
tional travel to seven consecutive days. 
The day limits are exclusive of travel 
time. Necessary expenses can also be pro
vided for spouses and children. These 
limits apply to necessary expenses paid 
by a single sponsor. A loophole exists for 
longer trips if more than one sponsor is 
involved. 

It cannot be overemphasized that lob
byists must protect the Members and 
Congressional employees to help ensure 
compliance with ethics rules. A lobbyist 
can call or write for guidance from the 
Senate Select Committee on Ethics at 
(202)224·2981,220 HartBuilding, Wash· 
ington, D.C. 20510, orthe House Commit
tee on Standards of Official Conduct at 
(202) 225·7103, HT·2 Capitol, Washing· 
ton, D.C. 20515. 

As of this writing, no Member of Con
gress or staffer may accept an honorarium 
for speaki ng. However, loopholes do exist 
because speaking fees can be donated by 
the sponsor to the favorite chanty of the 
Member and campaign contributions are 
generally allowable (with restrictions). 

The post-employment or "revolving 
door" restrictions on federal employees 

Continued on page 5 
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have gained much attention since the 
1992 elections. Under 18 U.S.C. section 
207(eXl), afonner MemberofCongressis 
prohibited for one year following his leav
ing office from making any contact with 
the intent to influence any Member, offi
cer, or employee ofCongress (the so-caned 
"cooling-off' period). Key staff members 
(those making at least three-quarters the 
salary of a Member for at least sixty days 
within the last year) leaving Congres
sional employment may not lobby the 
Member he worked for or members of the 
staff he left for one year (18 U.S.C. § 
207(eX2». Key committee staff members 
may not lobby Members of the Commit
tee, former Members jf they were mem
bers during the employee's last year, or 
cOm mittee staffers for one year after leav
ing employment (18 U.S.C. § 207(e)(3)). 

The Senate has traditionally main
tained tougher revolving door rules appli
cable to former staff than has the House. 
All former Senate staffers are barred by 
Senate rules for one year upon leaving 
Senate employment from lobbying the 
Senator and his current staff. Former 
committee staffers are prohibited from 
lobbying committee Members and cur
rent committee staff over the same pe
riod. These rules do not have criminal 
penalties. Those whose new lobbying job 
is for other government entities are ex
empt from the prohibition. An obvious 
loophole allows former personal staff to 
lobby current committee staff, and vice 
versa. 

Are these special ethical 
considerations for attorneys? 

Yes. Under the ABA Model Code of 
Professional Responsibility (EC 7-16 and 
8-4), a lawyer-lobbyist seeking to influ
ence legislation should identify the capac
ity in which he appears and follow all 
applicable laws and rules. Although a 
lawyer may represent client interests 
without believing in them, a lawyer-lob
byist must not seek action on behalfofthe 
public unless he conscientiously believes 
it to be in the public interest. 

According to EC 8-5, a lawyer-lobbyist 
shall refrain from deceptive, fraudulent, 
and megal practices, and shall disclose 
such improper actions unless bound by 
attorney-client confidentiality require
ments. EC 903 (also DR 9·101) on revolv
ingdoor employment states that an attor
ney should not take private employment 
in an area in which he had substantial 
responsibility when he was in public em
ployment. And finally, DR 9·101(c) 
Avoiding Even the Appearance of Profes
sional Impropriety ~ holds that "a law
yer shall not state or imply that he is able 
to influence improperly or upon irrelevant 
grounds any tribunal, legislative body, or 
public officiaL" 

Are there changes on the horizon? 
Yes. The most visible plan for change is 

the bill pursuedby Senator Levin ofMichi
gan, S. Res. 349 (the House version was 
introduced by Rep. Bryant, D-Tx). Sena
tor Levin pursued this bill unsuccessfully 
last Congress l but reintroduced it this 
Congress because of the greater likeli
hood of passage. The Levin bill would 
shift registering and regulatingresponsi
bllities to the Justice Department and 
would create a single method of disclo
sure reporting(twice yearly) for domestic 
lobbyists and those representing foreign 
countries. The bill establishes an elabo
rate procedure for correcting noncompli
ance with the registration and disclosure 
requirements. Other bills on the subject 
are S. Res. 79 introduced by Senator 
DeConcini of Arizona and a measure in
troduced by Senator Boren of Oklahoma 
that mirrors ethics require me nts imposed 
by the Clinton Administration on the 
members of the Executive branch. 

Agriculture and lobbying 
As members of the AALA, we should 

preceive lobbying for agriculture-related 
issues as a primary concern. The history 
ofagriculture lobbyingis long. In his book 
Democracy Under Pressure l part of the 
Twentieth Century Fund's "\Vhen the War 
Ends" series written during World War 
II, the author, Stuart Chase, labeled "Big 
Agriculture" as one of the four most effec
tive, and threatening, lobbying blocs. In 
relating "Big Agriculture's" lobbying suc
cesses, Stuart Chase pinpoints the begin
ningofthis poweras 1920 with the advent 
of tractors, but foretold its eventual in
ability to "save itself alone." 

Over theyears this bloc has grown with 
the addition of supporters looking to pro
tect the food and nutrition probrrams that 
fall under the auspices of the USDA, and 
has fractured as with the famous break
ing of the farm bloc by David Stockman 
earlyin the first Reagan term. Today, the 
clout of the agriculture lobby is suspect. 
Fann and commodity groups have not 
coalesced on a broad plan ofaction. Omni
bus farm groups have lost Congressional 
clout to com modity-specific organizations; 
livestock groups have advanced probrrams 
contrary to the interests of row-crop 
groups, and vice versa; dairy and live
stock interests have been at each others' 
throats; and groups representing non
traditional frontiers such as sustainable 
agriculture have been at loggerheads with 
groups representing more traditional 
methods, to namejust a few. Thisintern31 
struggle is most likely the result of: (1) 

federal "zero·sum~game" budget pres
sures; (2) the rise ofeffective environmen
tal, consumer, and union advocate groups 
that have targeted a weak agriculture; (3) 
the further strengthening of major 

agribusiness; and (4) the decline of the 
farm population in the U.S. 

David Hardy, former solicitor for the 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, laments 
the lack ofeffectiveness of the agriculture 
lobby 1n an article that appeared in the 
April 12, 1993 issue of Feedstuffs. He 
reasons that agriculture should unite 
under broad common objectives, creating 
a single organization dedicated to being a 
one-stop shop for lobbying action. In the 
February 22, 1992, issue of the National 
Journal, Graeme Browning reported on a 
Washington think·tank study declaring 
there was no farm vote. If the lobbyists 
cannot rally votes back home, and if the 
Congressman does not have farm roots of 
his own, then agriculture has no clout. 

Welcome to the world of agriculture 
lobbying. 

Position 
announcement 
The Natural Resources Law Center ofthe 
University of Colorado School of Law in· 
vites applications for the position of EI 
Paso Natural Gas Law Fellow for the 
Spring semester, 1994. Candidates may 
be from business, government, legal prac
tice, or universities. A stipend of$20,000 
IS available for the semester along with 
additional support for secretarial and re
search assistance. 

Candidates should apply by letter, out
lining the nature of their research inter
est, their ability to come to the School of 
Law during the Spring 1994 semester, 
and a brief statement of their qualifica
tions l includi ng three references. Address 
letters to Professor DavidH. Getches, RE: 
El Paso Fellowship, University of Colo
rado School of Law, Campus Box 401, 
Boulder, CO 80309-0401. 

In addition, the Center invites applica
tions for unpaid fellowships in all areas of 
natural resources law and policy. For all 
positions, please apply by July 1, 1993. 



Final agency action needed for judicial review 
Follow] ng the Fourth and Seventh Cir sideration of the § 404 permit would be because it had not assessed civil penalties 

-' r cuits, the U.S. District Court for the Dis· 
trict of North Dakota recently held that 

- judicial review ofpre·enfoTcementactions 
taken under the Clean Water Act (CWA) 
is not available. Board of Managers v. 
Bornhort, No,A4-91-218, 1993WL33117, 
(D,N,D. Jan, 20, 1993). At issue was an 
action for declaratory relief against the 
Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) and in
volvingthe White Spur Drain in Bottineau 
County, North Dakota, Id, at *l-

In 1988, the Board of Managers of the 
Bottineau County Water Resource Dis
trict (the Board) applied to the Corps for 
a § 404 permit under the CWA because of 
pI ans to discharge dredged or till material 
in a wetland area. The desired work was 
a continuation of drainage and flood con
trol work begun in the 1970's,Id. 

In 1989, the Corps learned that a con
struction company working for the Board 
had deposited spoil material in the wet· 
land area and issued a "cease and desist" 
letter to the Board. This letter ordered 
that the unauthorized work on the project 
be discontinued and announced that con-

suspended until the dispute was resolved. 
Id. Two years later, when the dispute had 
not yet been resolved, the Board brought 
the present action. 

After the filingofthe Board's complaint 
as well as motions to dismiss and for 
summary judgment, the Corps acted on 
the § 404 permit, granting permission for 
completion of at least some of the work 
requested by the Board. The partiesstipu
lated that the Board's initial request to 
order the Corps to render a decision on 
the permit was moot. Id. at ·2. 

Thequestion remaini ng before the court 
was whether it could act on the cease and 
desist letter issued by the Corps. The 
Board argued that it was not responsible 
for the dredged material and that any 
enforcement action taken should be 
against the contractor and not the Board. 
The Board asserted that the Corps should 
not be allowed to shut down an ongoing 
project of the Board because the contrac
tor failed to comply with contract specifi
cations.ld. 

The Corps responded by arguing that 

or brought any enforcement action, the 
court did not have proper jurisdiction. In 
a related argument, the Corps asserted 
that the cease and desist letter did not 
constitute a final agency action, therefore 
the case was not ripe for judicial review. 
Id. 

The court adopted the Corps' argu
ments, follo'Ning the Fourth and Seventh 
Circuits. Id. at *3 (citing Southern Pines 
Associates by Goldmeier u. U.S., 912 F.2d 
713,717 (4th CiT. 1990l;Horrman Group, 
Inc, v. E.P,A, 902 F.2d 567, 569 (7th Cir. 
1990); See also McGowan v, U,s" 747 
Fed, Supp, 539, 542 (E.D, Mo, 1990) (pre
enforcement judicial review not available 
under the CWA for cease and desist let
ters)). The court held that the cease and 
desist letter from the Corps did not consti~ 

tute a final agency action reviewable by 
the court, As the Corps had not brought 
an enforcement action or assessed any 
penalties, the court did not have jurisdic
tion. 

- Susan A. Schneider, Associate, 
Arent Fox Kintner Plotkin & Kahn, 

nnshiltgtOlt, DC 

ASCS's denial ofequitable reliefheld not reviewable
 

A challenge to the ASCS's failure to grant 
equitable relief under 7 U.S.C. section 

~ 1441-2(g)(l) and 7 c'F,R, section 791.2 
has been dismissed as unreviewable un
der the Administrative Procedure Act 
(APA), Otterson v. Madigan, No, C-92
3327-DW, 1993 U.S. DisL LEXIS 2157 
(ND. Calif, Feb. 22, 1993), Invoking 
section 70l(aX2) of the APA, the court 
held that judicial review was precluded 
because the agency's determination was 
"committed to agency discretion by law." 
Id, at *11-12, 

The plaintiffs were husband and wife 
and co-trustees of a family trust. The 
husband and his father produced rice 
under a crop-share lease on land owned 
by the trust. They also entered into a 
marketing agreement with a cooperative 
which, in turn, pledged the rice to the 
cec for a price support loan. Subse
quently, the ASCS required the coopera
tive to repay the loan because the father 
was not a member of the cooperative. 

The plaintiffs sought, but were denied, 
administrative equitable relief under 7 
US.C. section 1441-2(g)(l) and 7 C,F,R, 
section 791,2, 7 U.s,C, section 1441
2(g)(l) provides that "[i]f the failure of a 
producer to comply fully with the terms 
and conditions of the program conducted 
under this section precludes the making 
of loans, purchases, and payments, the 
Secretary may, nevertheless, make such 
amounts as the Secretary determines are 

the failure. The Secretary may consider 
whether the producer made a good faith 
effort to comply fully with the terms and 
conditions of the program in determining 
whether equitable reliefis warranted...." 

When the plaintiffs sought judicial re
view of the ASCS's denial of equitable 
relief, the government moved to dismiss 
the complaint on the grounds that section 
701la)(2) of the APA precluded review, 
Review is precluded under section 
701(a)(2) when "agency action 1S commit
ted to agency discretion by law." 

In granting the motion, the court first 
observed that "(a] statute may commit 
action to agency discretion under section 
701(aX2) in two ways. First, a statute 
may be drawn so broadly that it does not 
provide a court with judicially manage
ablE' standards by which it may measure 
an agency's actions.... Second, there are 
statutes that leave agency action to 'the 
exercise of informed discretion,' in cases 
where experts might disab'1"ee about the 
action to be taken under the statute." [d. 
at *7-8 (citations omitted). 

In reviewing the provisions of the statu
tory authority for the equitable relief 
sought by the plaintiffs, 7 U's,C, § 1441
2(g)(l), the court concluded that it was 
"unable to discern from the language of 
the statute any meaningful standard 
against which this Court could judge the 
Secretary's exercise of his discretion to 
determine what is equitable..,. [T]he Court 

effort' and 'seriousness ofthe failure to 
comply' do not provide a meaningful 
standard," Id, at *11-12. Accordingly, the 
court held that judicial review was pre
cluded. The court also ruled that, even jf 
review was not precluded, "there appears 
to be no available evidence that there was 
an abuse of discretion." Id. at *12. 

-4:hristopher R, Kelley, Arent FOI 

Washington, DC 

Ag law firm 
criticized 
In a sharply critical opinion, the Bank
ruptcy Court for the northern district of 
Oklahoma ordered a "general write down 
offees" charged by an Arkansas law firm 
representing a farmer in a Chapter 12 
bankruptcy, In re Burke, 147 B,R 787 
(BankL N,D, Okla, 1992), The court based 
its action on its finding of "defective dis
closure of compensation, the sheer size of 
the bill, the tenible results obtained, and 
the absence of a sufficient explanation 
and excuse therefor," Id. at 800. The court 
called the results of the case "hideous" 
and stated that the firm's "own activities 
contributed to the ruination of debtors' 
farm and the mistreatment of debtors' 
animals," Id. at 799, 

- Susan Schneider, Arent, Fox, 
equitable in relation to the seriousness of is convinced that the terms 'good faith Washingtan, DC 
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Membership directory update 
The Association plans toreprintthe membership directory this summer. Please submit any name, phone, or address 
changes to Bill Babione, AALADirectoT, University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, AR, by June I, 1993. In particular, 
we would like to include members' e~mail addresses. Further, if you have not paid your 1993 dues, please so do 
immediately so that your name can be included in the directory. 

EARLY REMINDER: Remember that the I993Annual Conferenceis being held atthe Hotel Nikkoin San Francisco, 
November 11-13, 1993. This year the Conference will begin on Thursday afternoon at 1:00 PM and end Saturday 
at noon. 
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